No. S263734 Court of Appeal 2 CIVIL No. B295181 c/w B295315

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

HILL RHF HOUSING PARTNERS, L.P., et al.,

Petitioners and Appellants,

VS.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES, et al., Defendants and Respondents.

MESA RHF PARTNERS, L.P.,
Petitioner and Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES, et al., Defendants and Respondents.

Los Angeles County Superior Court Case Nos. BS170127 and BS170352 Hon. Mitchell L. Beckloff, Department 86 Judge of the Superior Court

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUES PRESENTED

- assessment imposed by the City of Los Angeles for a business improvement district, must a property owner who has complied with the express constitutional and statutory requirement to state publicly its opposition to the assessment via a ballot provided by the City also articulate the specific reasons for its opposition (either orally or in writing) at the City's noticed public hearing in order to exhaust administrative remedies pursuant to the inferred requirement expressed for the first time by the Court of Appeal in this case?
 - 2. If so, should this rule apply only prospectively?

INTRODUCTION

Proposition 218, which added Article XIII D to the California Constitution, was specifically designed to make it *harder* for local governments to impose assessments and fees. Yet the Opinion of the Court of Appeal in this case makes it much *easier* to impose such assessments by creating a newly "inferred" administrative exhaustion requirement and applying this judicially created extra requirement retroactively. The new hurdle requires property owners to go above and beyond returning a public ballot expressing their opposition to the newly proposed assessments as described by Article XIII D. Instead, the Opinion for the first time requires — without constitutional or statutory basis — that property owners must provide detailed reasons for their objections at a public hearing before being allowed to challenge the assessments in court.

This newly inferred exhaustion requirement is directly contrary to the fundamental purpose of Proposition 218. As explained by this Court in the seminal case of *Silicon Valley Taxpayers' Assn., Inc. v.*Santa Clara County Open Space Authority (2008) 44 Cal.4th 431,

445 ["Silicon Valley"], the purpose of Proposition 218 is to make it more difficult for local government agencies to impose assessments and to defend challenges to those assessments in court. The Opinion undermines this purpose by creating a surprise impediment to property owners' ability to challenge assessments in court, which requirement is at odds with the express terms of Article XIII D, its related statutes, and prior case law on challenges to assessments brought thereunder. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeals' decision and find that a property owner seeking to challenge a special assessment in court satisfies the administrative exhaustion requirement if he participates in the ballot process regardless of whether he articulates the reason for his objection at the public hearing or in writing.

In any event, should this Court uphold the exhaustion requirement newly inferred by the Court of Appeal, the requirement should only apply prospectively and should not be applied to bar Petitioners from exercising their constitutional right to challenge the assessments in the Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Creation of the Business Improvement Districts</u>

In April and May 2017, the City of Los Angeles adopted ordinances declaring its intent to create the Downtown Center Business Improvement District ("DCBID") and the San Pedro Historic Waterfront Business Improvement District ("SPBID"), respectively. Such ordinances provided for assessments against the property owners within those two districts to fund the activities of the BIDs.

The three Petitioners in this case are affiliates of Retirement Housing Foundation ("RHF"), one of the nation's largest non-profit providers of housing and services for low-income seniors. (AA 9-10, ¶1 [Hill]; AA 7-9, ¶¶1, 9-11 [Mesa].)¹ Petitioners Hill RHF Housing Partners, L.P. ("Hill") and Olive RHF Housing Partners, L.P. ("Olive") own federally subsidized residential rental property for low-income

¹ The Appellants' Appendix will be cited as "AA [page no.]." The Reporter's Transcript will be cited as "RT at [page no.]." The Administrative Record will be cited both as "AR or SP [page no.]" (based on the bates numbers used in the trial court) and "(NOL [page no.])" (based on the page numbers of the electronic version attached to the Notice of Lodgment submitted to the Court of Appeal in accordance with Rule of Court 8.123(d)(1)).

seniors located within the boundaries of the DCBID; Petitioner Mesa RHF Housing Partners, L.P. ("Mesa") owns residential rental property for low-income seniors inside the boundaries of the SPBID. (Opn. 4, attached as Exhibit A.) The properties are subject to Regulatory Agreements with the City of Los Angeles restricting the amount of rent that can be charged. (AA 274-365 [Hill]; AA 311-378 [Mesa].) Accordingly, these attractive and fully occupied senior facilities receive no possibility of increased rental rates from any BID service. Moreover, the purpose of the rental communities is to assure that senior citizens who receive only social security benefits and are otherwise without means can afford to live in quality housing. Raising rents would destroy the very point of the Foundation's efforts.

B. The Professed Special Benefits of the BIDs Include General Economic Enhancements Which Do Not Benefit RHF's Low Income Senior Apartments

The general purpose and benefits of the DCBID are described in Section A of its Engineer's Report as follows: "Each of the [DCBID] activities or improvements is intended to increase building

occupancy and <u>lease rates</u>, to encourage new business development, attract businesses that benefit the parcels, and <u>improve the economic vitality</u> of the parcels." (AR 94 [NOL 96] [emphases added].) DCBID's various services are discussed in Section B of the Engineer's Report, entitled "IMPROVEMENTS AND ACTIVITIES." (AR 97-101 [(NOL 99-103].) The categories of services are as follows:

Safe Team Program: The Safe Team Program consists of "security services for the individual assessed parcels located within the District in the form of patrolling bicycle personnel, nighttime vehicle patrol and downtown ambassadors." "[T]he special benefit to assessed parcels from these services is increased commercial activity which directly relates to increases in lease rates, residential serving business and customer usage." (AR 97 [NOL 99] [emphases added].)

Clean Program: The Clean Program consists of sidewalk cleaning, trash collection, graffiti removal, and landscape improvement and maintenance. (AR 98 [NOL 100].) The Engineer's Report provides that "the special benefit to assessed parcels from

these services <u>is increased commercial activity</u> which directly relates to increases in lease rates and customer usage." *Id.*

Economic Development/Marketing Services: The Economic Development/Marketing Program consists of "Marketing Collateral," including newsletters, public relations materials, information kiosks, a downtown center map, a retail guide, marketing materials, website design/operation, property owner communication, annual report/marketing plan, property owner survey, consumer attitude survey, special events, downtown center welcome program, convention and visitor program, banners, media relations, and advertising. (AR 100 [NOL 102].) The Economic Development/Marketing Program also consists of "Downtown Center" Business Recruitment and Retention," which includes targeted business meetings, downtown center brokers program, outlying brokers program, investment media relations, trade show marketing, property managers program, property database development/update, property marketing material, economic studies and planning, and downtown center residential development programs. (AR 100-101 [NOL 102-103].) The Engineer's Report

justifies the Economic Development/Marketing Programs as follows:

The special benefit to District assessed parcels from these services is increased commercial activity which directly relates to increases in lease rates and enhanced commerce. The special benefit to residential mixed-use residential parcels is increased occupancy rates and an increase in residential serving businesses such as restaurants and retail stores . . . Residential and mixed-use residential parcels benefit from District programs that provide an increased awareness of District amenities such as retail and transit options which in turn enhances the business climate and improves the business offering and attracts new residents, businesses and District investment.

(Emphases added.) (AR 99-101 [NOL 101-103].)2

C. Petitioners Oppose the BIDs in Accordance With Statutory Requirements and the City's Notice

The City mailed notices to property owners within the districts that it would be considering the establishment of the BIDs at upcoming City Council hearings. The notices included summaries of the management district plans for each BID, assessment ballots, and summaries of procedures for completing, returning, and tabulation of the assessment ballots. (Opn. 4.) Hill and Olive returned public

16

² The SPBID consists of similar programs (Opn. 5) with similar descriptions of the alleged "special benefits."

ballots on behalf of those properties opposing the establishment of the DCBID, and Mesa returned a public ballot opposing the establishment of the SPBID. (*Ibid.*) None of the Petitioners provided other written opposition or spoke at the public hearings. (Opn. 5.)

The City held the noticed public hearings on June 7, 2017 and June 27, 2017 for the DCBID and SPBID, respectively. After tabulating the ballots, the City created by ordinance the DCBID and SPBID for terms beginning on January 1, 2018. (*Ibid.*)

D. <u>Petitioners Challenge the BIDs in Superior Court</u>

On July 3, 2017, Hill and Olive filed a petition for writ of mandate challenging the establishment of the DCBID. (Opn. 5.) On July 26, 2017, Mesa filed a petition for writ of mandate challenging the establishment of the SPBID. Among other arguments, Petitioners raised facial challenges to the constitutionality of recent amendments to the Property and Business Improvement Law of 1994 ("PBID Law"), claiming the amendments redefined special benefits in a manner directly contrary to this Court's interpretation of Article XIII D. Petitioners also argued that the Engineer's Report improperly characterized general benefits (such as improved

economic vitality) as special benefits, and failed to account for the unique characteristics of Petitioners' properties. (Opn. 6.)

In answering the petitions, Respondents disputed Petitioners' arguments and also alleged failure to exhaust administrative remedies as an affirmative defense. The parties argued that defense in their trial briefs. (*Ibid.*)

On September 19, 2018, the trial court heard argument on the petitions. (Opn. 6.) As to administrative exhaustion, the trial court commented at oral argument that "I'm not sure what more petitioners should have done other than vote 'no' during that process to exhaust their administrative remedies. . . . And looking at the process and the discussion of the process for the adoption of a B.I.D., it seems to [me] that that argument is correct." (RT at 36.) The trial court denied the petitions on the merits,³ and these appeals followed.⁴ (Opn. 7.)

³ The trial court did not rule on the administrative exhaustion point in its ultimate orders, thereby implicitly rejecting it.

⁴ The appeals were subsequently consolidated for oral argument and decision.

E. <u>The Court of Appeal Affirms Based on Failure to Exhaust Administrative Remedies</u>.

The Court of Appeal affirmed, not on the merits, but based on a failure to exhaust administrative remedies. The appellate court found that Petitioners were required to articulate the basis for their objections to the BIDs at the public hearing, and that submission of ballots in opposition did not suffice. The Opinion relied upon Government Code section 53753, subdivision (d), which provides:

At the public hearing, the agency shall consider all objections or protests, if any, to the proposed assessment. At the public hearing, any person shall be permitted to present written or oral testimony.

Subdivision (e)(5) goes on to provide that "If there is a majority protest against the imposition of a new assessment . . . the agency shall not impose, extend or increase the assessment." (Opn. 9.)

The Opinion then cited this Court's decision in *Williams* & Fickett v. County of Fresno (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1258, for the proposition that an exhaustion requirement will be inferred "even within statutory

⁵ "A majority protest exists if the assessment ballots submitted, and not withdrawn, in opposition to the proposed assessment exceed the assessment ballots submitted, and not withdrawn, in its favor . . ." (Government Code § 53753(e)(4).)

schemes that 'do not make the exhaustion of the [administrative] remedy a condition of the right to resort to the courts." (Opn. 10.) The appellate court concluded that the procedure outlined in the PBID Law "bespeaks a legislative determination that the [City] should, in the first instance, pass on" the questions Petitioners presented. (Opn. 12.)

Petitioners argued that *Williams & Fickett* should not apply because Article XIII D specified only the ballot process. However, the Court of Appeal rejected that argument, finding that "for just a 'no' vote in the context of the remedies the statute provides to constitute exhaustion would frustrate the purpose of the exhaustion doctrine." (Opn. 12-13.) The Opinion further stated:

If the agency's decision is to be challenged in court, the agency – the City in this context – is entitled to the benefit of the opportunity to either address the specific issues a property owner raises or to pass on the opportunity to do so and allow the courts to make the decision based on an administrative record that reflects a development of the disputed issues to the extent the administrative process allows.

(Opn. 15.)

RHF petitioned for rehearing, urging that the Opinion should

only be given prospective effect because (1) Petitioners reasonably relied on prior case law – including California Supreme Court authority – which made no mention of the newly announced requirement that a property owner appear and speak at the public hearing or provide detailed written opposition in addition to the ballot in order to exhaust administrative remedies; (2) the nature of the change worked by the Opinion will have a substantive effect; (3) denying retroactive application would not unduly impact the administration of justice; and (4) retroactive application would deprive Petitioners of any remedy whatsoever. The Court of Appeal denied the Petition for Rehearing on July 15, 2020. (Exhibit B, attached.)

IV.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>Legal Background</u>

Article XIII D was added to the California Constitution by
Proposition 218, which was adopted in 1996 by voters to protect
taxpayers from local governments seeking to exact revenues without
taxpayer consent. (See Silicon Valley, supra, 44 Cal.4th at 443

[Prop. 218 "buttresses Proposition 13's limitations on ad valorem property taxes and special taxes by placing analogous restrictions on assessments, fees, and charges."].)

Section 4 of Article XIII D of the California Constitution contains the requirements for assessments, and Section 2 contains the definitions of terms used in Article XIII D. In relevant part, Section 4(a) provide as follows:

An agency which proposes to levy an assessment shall identify all parcels which will have a special benefit conferred upon them and upon which an assessment will be imposed. The proportionate special benefit derived by each identified parcel shall be determined in relationship to the entirety of the capital cost of a public improvement, the maintenance and operation expenses of a public improvement, or the cost of the property related service being provided. No assessment shall be imposed on any parcel which exceeds the reasonable cost of the proportional special benefit conferred on that parcel. Only special benefits are assessable, and an agency shall separate the general benefits from the special benefits conferred on a parcel. Parcels within a district that are owned or used by an agency, the State of California or United States shall not be exempt from assessment unless the agency can demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that those publicly owned parcels in fact receive no special benefit.

In turn, Section 2(i) provides:

"Special benefit" means a particular and distinct benefit over and above general benefits conferred on real property located in the district or to the public at large. General enhancement of property value does not constitute "special benefit."

Taken together, these sections "tighten[] the definition[s] of two key findings necessary to support an assessment: special benefit and proportionality." (Silicon Valley, supra, 44 Cal.4th at 443.)

Subdivisions (c) through (e) of section 4 of Article XIII D specify the procedural requirements imposed on the assessing agency, starting with the requirement that the assessing agency's written notice of its proposed assessments "include, in a conspicuous place thereon, a summary of the procedures applicable to the completion, return, and tabulation of the ballots required pursuant to subdivision (d), including a disclosure statement that the existence of a majority protest . . . will result in the assessment not being imposed." (Art. XIII D, § 4(c).) Subsection (d) further clarifies, "Each notice mailed to owners of identified parcels within the district pursuant to subdivision (c) shall contain a ballot which includes the agency's address for receipt of the ballot once completed by any owner of the parcel, and his or her support or opposition to the

proposed assessment." Subdivision (e) provides:

The agency shall conduct a public hearing upon the proposed assessment not less than 45 days after mailing the notice of the proposed assessment to record owners of each identified parcel. At the public hearing, the agency shall consider all protests against the proposed assessment and tabulate the ballots. The agency shall not impose an assessment if there is a majority protest. A majority protest exists if, upon the conclusion of the hearing, ballots submitted in opposition to the assessment exceed the ballots submitted in favor of the assessments.

Subdivision (e) nowhere states that anything other than submission of a ballot is required to record a property owner's protest.

The Legislature facilitated Article XIII D by enacting the Proposition 218 Omnibus Implementation Act of 1997, Government Code section 53750 *et seq.* The notice, hearing, and protest procedures for new or increased assessments are codified in Government Code, section 53753. Like Article XIII D, section 53753 provides a detailed procedure that local government agencies must follow when issuing and tabulating ballots. Special assessments are also subject to the PBID Law, California Streets and Highways Code, sections 36600 *et seq.*, whose purpose is, in part, to ensure that assessments conform to all constitutional requirements. (See

Sts. & Hy. Code § 36601(h).)

B. Imputing to Article XIII D an Administrative Exhaustion

Requirement in Excess of the Ballot Submission

Procedure Would Be Inconsistent with the Fundamental

Purpose of Proposition 218, Which Gave Property Owners

and Courts, Not Local Governments, Authority to

Determine the Propriety of a Special Assessment.

The Opinion's new administrative exhaustion requirement runs directly contrary to Proposition 218's fundamental purpose, which was to make it more difficult for local governments to impose assessments and to defend those assessments in court. Proposition 218 gave taxpayers final authority over special assessments by requiring that an assessment be approved by a weighted majority of affected property owners via the ballot process articulated in Article XIII D, section 4, subdivisions (c) through (e). Nothing in Article XIII D imposes an additional requirement to articulate a detailed basis for objecting at the public hearing set to tabulate the ballots. Such a requirement is at odds with the procedures expressly provided in Article XIII D and with the amendment's purpose of curtailing the

authority of local governments to impose special assessments.

The New Exhaustion Requirement Undermines the Ballot Procedure Detailed in Article XIII D, Section 4

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