No. S263734

Exempt from Filing Fees Government Code § 6103

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

HILL RHF HOUSING PARTNERS, L.P. et al.,

Petitioners and Appellants

VS.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES; et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

MESA RHF PARTNERS, L.P. et al.,

Petitioners and Appellants

VS.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES; et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Second District Court of Appeal Case Nos. B295181, B295315 Los Angeles County Superior Court Case Nos. BS170127 and BS170352 Hon. Mitchell L. Beckloff, Presiding Hon. Amy D. Hogue, Presiding

RESPONDENTS' JOINT ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Michael G. Colantuono (143551) Email: MColantuono@chwlaw.us

Holly O.Whatley (160259)

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

into compliance with the law as they learn of it. The absence of such a rule would encourage such opportunistic suits, requiring local agencies to defend their revenues again and again with each development of the law. The cost to do so, both in legal fees and in refund claims, can only come from the very funds those rates and fees are intended to fund, for many utility providers are funded only by utility rates. (*Plantier*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 385 [ratemaking is commonly a zero-sum game].)

Yet our Constitution is solicitous of stability in government finance. (Cal. Const., art. XIII, § 32 [state revenues may be refunded only in strict compliance with statutory procedures]; see *Batt v. City and County of San Francisco* (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 65, 71–72 [extending "pay-first-litigate-later" rule to local government], disapproved on another ground by *McWilliams v. City of Long Beach* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 613, 626.) Many statutes authorize validation of local government revenue measures and courts apply those statutes to achieve their purpose in promoting finality and stability in government finance. (E.g., Wat. Code, § 30066 [assessments and debts of municipal water district]; *Katz v. Campbell Union High School Dist.* (2007) 144 Cal.App.4th 1024 [challenge to parcel tax barred by failure to comply with validation statutes].)

Thus, the policies which underlie article XIII, section 32 and the case law developing it weigh in favor of preserving an exhaustion requirement in Proposition 218 challenges. The

alternative is to allow opportunistic litigation with each development of this fertile area of law. Such suits will punish agencies which fail — as many will — to foresee new legal developments. Such litigation will necessarily come at the expense of the tax- and rate-payers Proposition 218 was adopted to protect.

For this reason, too, Respondents urge this Court to affirm.

V. SIMILAR LAWS REQUIRE FULL PARTICIPATION AT A HEARING FOR EXHAUSTION

The Court of Appeals decision here is also consistent with exhaustion required in other contexts in which a hearing and comment are necessary:

- Under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), a
 party must appear and voice objection at the hearing to
 exhaust remedies. (E.g., Napa Citizens for Honest Government
 v. Napa County Bd. of Supervisors (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 342,
 384 [identification of specific objections at hearing
 constituted exhaustion].)
- To exhaust Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) remedies, one must also appear at a hearing and articulate specific objections. (*City of San Jose v. Operating Engineers Local Union No.* 3 (2010) 49 Cal.4th 597, 609.)
- Taxpayers seeking judicial relief from an erroneous assessment must first exhaust, at a hearing or by written protest. (E.g., *Roth v. City of Los Angeles* (1975) 53

- Cal.App.3d 679, 687 [lawsuit barred even as to constitutional challenges because plaintiffs failed to object at a city council hearing to assessment to abate public nuisance]; *Williams & Fickett, supra*, 2 Cal.5th 1258.)
- Exhaustion as to zoning and planning decisions also requires specific objections. (E.g., San Franciscans Upholding the Downtown Plan v. City & County of San Francisco (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 656 [rejecting attack on reports from city's financial expert because plaintiff failed to present contrary financial analysis at hearing]; People ex rel. Lockyer v. Sun Pacific Farming Co. (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 619, 641 [no exhaustion as plaintiff failed to object to citrus pest eradication plan at hearing]; Park Area Neighbors v. Town of Fairfax (1994) 29 Cal.App.4th 1442 [neighbors failed to exhaust administrative remedies before suit challenge development approval].)

Of course, there is nothing novel about these cases — they apply well-established rules of exhaustion of remedies, which likewise apply to Proposition 218 challenges as nothing in that measure expressly provides otherwise or is inconsistent with an exhaustion requirement.

Plantier is not to the contrary; it reserved rather than decided the issue here. (Op. Br. at p. 38.) The respondent sewer agency there charged commercial establishments on the basis of floor area rather

than water use. Plaintiff Plantier challenged his restaurant's allocation (an as-applied issue) while the agency was making new, district-wide rates (which might be challenged facially). Plantier did not raise his objection in the hearing article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (a) requires, and the trial court dismissed for failure to exhaust. (*Plantier*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 379.) The Court of Appeal reversed, holding a Proposition 218 majority protest proceeding need never be exhausted because a litigant cannot prevail in such a hearing. It conflated the different exhaustion standards for quasijudicial proceedings (in which the ability to prevail is relevant) from those for legislative proceedings (where it is not) and expressly disagreed with another case. (*Id.* at p. 380.)

This Court took the case to resolve the split, but concluded only that exhaustion was not required on *Plantier's* somewhat unique facts. (*Plantier, supra,* 7 Cal.5th at p. 372.) *Plantier* assumed without deciding that one must participate in a Proposition 218 majority protest hearing before challenging ratemaking in general – i.e., a facial challenge. But, it concluded, Plantier's was not such a challenge. (*Id.* at pp. 390.) The sewer agency noticed a hearing on proposed rate increases affecting all sewer customers, not its sewer-service allocation formula. (*Id.* at pp. 384–385.) Its board could not have acted on Plantier's complaint at the Proposition 218 hearing except by proposing new rates premised on a new formula, which would require a new hearing after notice of the new proposal. (*Id.* at

p. 387.) Because the Section 6 hearing could not provide any relief to the challengers, it did not provide an adequate administrative remedy and need not be exhausted.

By contrast here, the City could have addressed Petitioners' concerns in any way that did not require an increase in assessments on others — as by maintaining the assessment as proposed, but explaining it more thoroughly, or changing it to reduce the burden on Petitioners and to require additional non-assessment funding for the BIDs. While utility ratemaking is commonly a "zero sum game," (*Plantier*, supra, 7 Cal.5th at p. 385 [raising one person of class' fee will require others' rates to rise if utility is to fully fund service]), an assessment levy is not. An assessment can recover the full cost of a project only in the rare circumstance in which all the benefits of a project ere special and all beneficiaries are within the assessing agency's reach. (E.g., Silicon Valley, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 455; see City of Saratoga v. Hinz (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 1202, 1225 [assessment funded conversion of cul-de-sac to through-street conferred no general benefit]; see also Town of Tiburon v. Bonander (2009) 180 Cal.App.4th 1057, 1079–1080 [utility undergrounding to enhance views conferred no general benefit].) Thus, in an assessment proceeding, non-assessment funds are typically required. (E.g., Beutz v. County of Riverside (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 1516, 1530 [use of nonassessment funds for capital component of park plan].) Petitioners' objection here might have required a bit more such funding, but

would not have required — as in *Plantier* — an entirely new hearing. (E.g., AR00008, AR00021; SP00007–9, SP00014–15 [reflecting non-assessment funding relied upon for general benefits].)

Plantier harmonized its ruling with the case the lower courts had criticized there (Wallich's Ranch Co. v. Kern County Citrus Pest Control Dist. (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 878), finding neither resolved whether one must exhaust a majority protest hearing under article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (a) to challenge property-related fees. Plantier expressly reserved that question:

We do not decide the broader question of whether, when, and under what circumstances a public comment process may be considered an administrative remedy.

We consider only whether these Proposition 218 hearings were adequate to resolve plaintiffs' substantive challenge.

(7 Cal.5th at p. 384, fn. omitted.)

Even that question would be only analogous authority for the issue here — whether Petitioners must exhaust the article XIII D, section 4 hearing at which the City Council was obliged to "consider all protests" before levying the assessment Petitioners challenge.

That Proposition 218 details distinct requirements for assessments (art. XIII D, §§ 4, 5) than for property related fees (art. XIII D, § 6) is enough to prove that developments as to one do not resolve questions as to the other.

Article XIII D, section 4, unlike section 6, would have allowed the City to address the concerns Petitioners raised in court. The City might have rejected renewal of the BIDs. It might have altered the assessment methodology in any way that did not increase assessment of others, increased the use non-assessment funds, or changed the BIDs' services. An assessment hearing under article XIII D, section 4 is an adequate administrative remedy for the challenges raised here and, indeed, most assessment challenges.

Plantier thus does not reach, much less change, the law obliging Petitioners to participate in the City's hearing, to state their objections and the legal and factual bases for them.

Moreover, it appears the *Plantier* plaintiff exhausted his remedies by objecting to the rate methodology, engaging with the board, and speaking at a board meeting. (7 Cal.5th at p. 378.) He was not required to also protest the rate increase, as his challenge was with his sewer-service allocation, not with the rate applied to all such allocations. (*Id.* at p. 387.)

Petitioners' observation that many assessment cases fail to discuss exhaustion also does not persuade. Cases are not law for propositions they do not consider. (E.g., Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority v. Yum Yum Donut Shops, Inc. (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 662, 673.) No case covers every aspect of potentially relevant law — courts decide cases, they do not write treatises. Review of available appellate briefs in the cases Petitioners

cite shows that exhaustion was not argued. (E.g., *Dahms v. Downtown Pomona Property & Business Improvement Dist.*, Appellant's Opening Brief, 2005 WL 3741792.) In others, exhaustion is mentioned, but not disputed. For example, in *City of Saratoga, supra*, 115 Cal.App.4th at p. 1209, the property owner did not merely vote "no"; he also wrote the City Council before the public hearing threatening suit. So, too, in *Town of Tiburon v. Bonander*. (Respondents' Brief, 2008 WL 2329781, at p. *45 [property owners objected at hearing].) Nothing in the case law supports Petitioners' claim a "no" vote alone is sufficient to exhaust remedies under Article XIII D.

VI. DECISION SHOULD BE RETROACTIVE

As a general rule, judicial decisions have retroactive effect, with only limited exception where the decision changes a settled rule on which the parties below relied. (*Claxton v. Waters* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 367, 378–379.) That narrow exception does not apply here.

First, as explained *supra*, there is no "new" rule here unlike in *Williams & Fickett*. The Court of Appeal applies well-established law to Proposition 218 (adopted 24 years ago) and to the PBID Law of 1994 (adopted 26 years ago). The conclusion below and the argument here is that Proposition 218 did not impliedly change this aspect of revenue litigation, as it expressly changed others. If Petitioners were surprised by this routine requirement of California administrative law, they have little justification for it.

The exhaustion requirement is plain, simple, and well established. A decision-making body is "entitled to learn the contentions of interested parties before litigation is instituted." (*Napa Citizens for Honest Government v. Napa County Bd. of Supervisors* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 342, 384 [CEQA exhaustion].) Generalized objections at a public hearing do not suffice — challengers must raise them specifically. (*Coalition for Student Action, supra,* 153 Cal.App.3d at p. 1197; *California Native Plant Society, supra,* 172 Cal.App.4th at pp. 615–616 [hearing participants not held to standards of lawyers in court, but must identify what facts are contested].) Exhaustion requires full presentation to the agency of all issues later to be litigated and the essential facts on which they rest. (*City of San Jose, supra,* 49 Cal.4th at p. 609 [duty to exhaust PERB remedies before suing to enjoin strike].) Petitioners simply failed to comply with these well-established rules.

Moreover, the exhaustion remedies required here were already plainly set forth in Proposition 218 and the PBID law, and interpreted as such by case law, as detailed *supra*. Because such a decision is not a new declaration of law, it should apply retroactively to the effective date of Proposition 218, as this Court construes here its requirements. It does not establish them. (E.g., *Rose v. Hudson* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 641, 653 ["A court decision does not announce a new rule of law if it does not 'overrule or disagree with any unanimous and unquestioned body of California

decisional authority"], citing *Gentis v. Safeguard Business Systems, Inc.* (1998) 60 Cal.App.4th 1294, 1305–1306.)

Second, the factors weigh against prospective-only application here. Significantly, there was no reliance on an earlier, inconsistent rule — nor surprise to Petitioners. As set forth *supra*, Proposition 218 (as clarified by the Omnibus Act) and the PBID Law require both opportunity to submit a ballot and to object at a hearing. The City's notices also advised Petitioners of both remedies. (E.g., AR00271–00272.) While Petitioners had an opportunity to voice their opposition, they elected to neither file a protest nor to voice their concerns orally. (AR00161, AR00255, SP00193.)

Third, public policy and fairness weigh in favor of retroactivity. As detailed *supra*, exhaustion would have achieved all the purposes of the exhaustion rule. It would have:

- apprised the City of Petitioners' concerns;
- allowed the City, Petitioners, and the BIDs to make a record on those issues to facilitate judicial review;
- allowed the City to apply its expertise to that record and to address those concerns; and
- given the City opportunity to resolve the disputes.

Petitioners' failure to meaningfully participate in the City's hearing disserved all these purposes and sandbagged the City.

There are no compelling policy reasons to depart from retroactivity here. Indeed, both fairness and public policy support it.

Applying the rule only prospectively will eliminate public agency's failure to exhaust defense from all pending cases. Any who submitted only a ballot, with no specified objection, may litigate, burdening assessment agencies and courts alike. Trial and appellate courts will be required to resolve technical ratemaking issues without the benefit of well-developed administrative records, or of agency expertise. None of the policy rationales for the rule of exhaustion will be advanced.

Williams & Fickett is not to the contrary. There, this Court overruled prior law on which that petitioner may have relied in failing to exhaust. Earlier law excused a failure to present a claim of non-ownership of property in an appeal to the assessment appeals board. Williams & Fickett newly required such exhaustion after analyzing intervening decisions construing the nullity exception:

We therefore overrule *Parr-Richmond Industrial Corp. v.*Boyd, supra, 43 Cal.2d 157 Nevertheless, we recognize that a taxpayer in plaintiff's position might have reasonably relief on our decision in *Parr-Richmond* to believe it was unnecessary to timely exhaust its administrative remedies through the assessment appeal process before filing a tax refund claim and bringing a refund action pressing a claim of nonownership of the assessed property.

(2 Cal.5th at p. 1282.) There is nothing to overrule here. No justification for prospective application of decision here appears.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that this Court affirm. A property owner must articulate the specific reasons for opposition to an assessment, orally or in writing, at or before hearing required by article XIII D, section 4. Otherwise, he or she fails to exhaust administrative remedies and cannot challenge the assessment in court. This Court should also hold that it has ordinary retroactive effect.